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AUTHORS’ PREFACE


The Australian understanding of the Great War reflects the experiences of the infantry and light horse at Anzac and in the Middle East, France and Flanders, with the endeavours of small units sometimes lost within the big picture. Furthermore, our knowledge of armoured cars and tanks in this time period is based on the way British units operated them with our forces. As such it is understandable that the genuinely Australian experience of armour has been largely overlooked.


This uniquely Australian experience of armour can be found, however, in the stories of two little-known units: the Australian Armoured Car Section, later the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol, which operated from 1915 to 1919, and the Special Tank Section, AIF, formed in 1918. Both units embraced the power of the internal combustion engine, the firepower of machine-guns, and the protection of armour to demonstrate a new form of mechanised warfare on both wheels and tracks.


Lieutenant Ernest James and a small group of Edwardian motor enthusiasts designed, funded and constructed two armoured cars in Melbourne during 1915–16. Despite the potential challenges, particularly that of the hostile desert terrain, the Australian Armoured Car Section took these vehicles to the Middle East in 1916. Later re-equipped with Model T Fords and a change of title to the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol, the unit would demonstrate the value of speed, firepower and manoeuvre on wheels during the 1917–18 campaigns and the period immediately following the armistice with Turkey.


The story of ‘Grit’, Australia’s first tank, began in 1917 when the Australian government requested its British counterpart to provide a tank for fundraising and recruiting purposes. Australian Army Service Corps drivers and artificers were trained at Bovington in the United Kingdom and then formed into the Special Tank Section, AIF, before travelling to Australia to await their vehicle. ‘Grit’, a Mk. IV (Female) tank, arrived in Port Melbourne in 1918. Over the next few years Grit and her successive crews demonstrated the capability of tanks to an awestruck public as they toured eastern Australia. Grit would eventually find a place of honour in the National Collection at the Australian War Memorial.


Pioneers of Australian Armour seeks to recognise the work of the members of these two small Australian units operating armoured fighting vehicles during the Great War. Their pioneering efforts laid the foundations for mechanised warfare and armour within the Australian Army.


In 2005, when this project was first considered, it seemed relatively straightforward. Captain James’ unpublished manuscript ‘The Motor Patrol’, a little-known but complete text, was held at the Australian War Memorial and there was a small quantity of images available to support the text. Mike Cecil had documented Grit’s history and that of the Special Tank Section over many years. The task was limited and appeared simple. However, by 2012, the situation had changed markedly: the internet and the current process of digitisation had produced a harvest of primary documents that could not have been accessed just a few years previously. The National Archives of Australia and the National Library website ‘Trove’ also uncovered a quantity of material that has provided vivid images of the period and the individuals concerned. In addition, the burgeoning interest in family history has produced on-line resources that document a person’s life and allow contact between researchers. These contacts have enabled the descendants of members of the two units to participate in the documentation process. Their generous responses have expanded the project dramatically.


The authors intended to use primary documents wherever possible and this is reflected in the composition of Pioneers. While minimal editorial changes have removed spelling and typographical errors, minor inconsistencies in presentation and style and improved the readability of the text, the integrity of the original narrative has been respected and maintained. In preserving this text, views and language typically used during the Great War have been retained, some of which are no longer deemed acceptable. Likewise, many of the views expressed are certainly not those of the Australian Army nor the authors. However, these views and language have been left ‘as found’ as they are part of the historical record and their removal would diminish the value of the text as a means of understanding the past.


Pioneers of Australian Armour consists of two main parts. The first part comprises James’ ‘The Motor Patrol’ in its entirety along with newspaper clippings from the time which provide a broader framework to the story. The second part tells the story of Grit, Australia’s first tank, and the men who travelled eastern Australia providing demonstrations of the power of this extraordinary new weapon. Each part is followed by a section entitled ‘Dramatis Personae’ which describes the lives of those pioneers of armour who served in each unit. The narrative is supplemented by a series of appendices which provide nominal rolls, technical information and summaries.
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A.  The December 1915 receipt for the purchase of armour plate by Captain James. The construction of the armoured cars was a considerable challenge in 1915 Melbourne.




FOREWORD


Pioneers of Australian Armour fills a significant gap in our understanding of the history of Australian armour. This important book describes the pioneering stages in the development of modern cavalry and tank capabilities. While the history of Australia’s contribution to the Middle East Campaign of the Great War has been dominated by stories of the magnificent Light Horse for almost 100 years, there are other aspects of the campaign that deserve to be documented. Pioneers offers a unique account of a small force, the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol, mounted in armed cars, which performed an essential role as a scouting, security and intelligence-gathering asset for the Light Horse.


But Pioneers also tells another story that has long been neglected, providing a detailed account of ‘Grit’, Australia’s first tank, and the men of the Special Tank Section. Grit arrived in Australia in mid-1918, its purpose to raise much-needed funds for the war effort. However the true contribution of Grit and the Special Tank Section was to educate the Australian public—the vast majority of whom had never seen a tank. Grit’s tour of the eastern states demonstrated the capability of this modern war machine and showed Australians why the tank was fundamental to land combat. Indeed Grit played a key role in the genesis of armour in the Australian Army.


Pioneers is a truly fascinating account of a little-known facet of the Western Desert Campaign. What is perhaps most striking, however, are the qualities of resourcefulness, ingenuity, innovation and determination that emerge in descriptions of the men of both the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol and the Special Tank Section. These were essential qualities at a time when such technology was in its infancy and Australia was in the grip of wartime austerity. Yet these qualities remain just as essential in the modern Australian Army, reflected in the values of both the broader Army and the Royal Australian Armoured Corps—determination, courage, initiative and teamwork. The men of the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol and the Special Tank Section were trailblazers in the true sense of the word and left a legacy that characterises their modern counterparts despite the elapse of almost a century.


M.A. Brewer, CSC and Bar


Brigadier


Head of Corps


Royal Australian Armoured Corps.


Sydney, NSW


April 2015




PART 1


The Motor Patrol


The History of the 1st Australian Armoured Car Section
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1.  The 1st Armoured Car Battery in Egypt. The vehicles are, from left to right: the Minerva tender, the Mercedes armoured car, the Daimler armoured car, and in front of the Daimler, the New Hudson motorcycle and sidecar (AWM P02664.001).




TIMELINE


1st Australian Armoured Car Section/Battery and 1st Australian Light Car Patrol


1915–1919














	1915


	







	12 July


	Lieutenant James (Reserve of Officers, 3rd Military District) writes to Minister for Defence and offers to raise and equip an armoured car section for the AIF.







	14 July


	Experimentation with various types of steel for armoured cars.







	17 August


	Designs and drawing submitted to the Department of Defence.







	


	Cars donated by I.S. Young and P. Cornwell. Both donors offer their services to the unit.







	24 October


	Work commences on the chassis at the Vulcan Engineering Works.




















	1916


	







	7 February


	Daimler car completed.







	8 February


	Mercedes car commenced.







	27 February


	Road trials and range practice of the Daimler car at Port Melbourne.







	6 March


	Lieutenants James and Cornwell mobilised at Swan Island Depot, 38th Fortress Company, Royal Australian Engineers.







	16 March


	Lieutenants James and Cornwell gazetted as officers in the Armoured Motor Section.







	26 March


	NCOs and men concentrated at the Royal Park Camp’s 24th Depot Battalion.







	28 March


	Lieutenants James and Cornwell proceed to Machine Gun School at Randwick, New South Wales.







	4 April


	NCOs and men proceed to Machine Gun School at Port Melbourne.







	28 April


	Armoured cars presented to Senator Pearce at Victoria Barracks, Melbourne.







	10 May


	Officers, NCOs and men return to Royal Park from the Port Melbourne Machine Gun School.







	16 June


	Armoured cars and heavy baggage sent to Port Melbourne pending embarkation.







	20 June


	1st Australian Armoured Car Section embarks on HMAT A.13 Katuna at Port Melbourne for overseas service.







	23 June


	Katuna calls at Adelaide, South Australia.







	2 July


	Katuna calls at Fremantle, Western Australia.







	18 July


	Katuna arrives at Colombo, Ceylon.







	20–29 July


	Katuna experiences Indian Ocean gales.







	9 August


	Katuna arrives at Port Tewfik, Egypt.







	10 August


	1st Australian Armoured Car Section attached to the 2nd Light Horse Brigade at Moascar Camp.







	August


	1st Australian Armoured Car Section retitled the 1st Australian Armoured Car Battery to conform to British practice.







	16 August


	1st Australian Armoured Car Battery entrains for Minia, southern Egypt.







	17 August


	1st Australian Armoured Car Battery joins 11th and 12th Light Motor Batteries.







	21 August


	First patrol into the Libyan Desert.







	22 August


	Outbreak of Nile Fever: Lieutenant Cornwell and three men hospitalised.







	4 December


	Armoured cars and machine-guns despatched by train to Cairo where they are returned to the stores depot.







	6 December


	1st Australian Armoured Car Battery proceeds to the Southern Oasis.







	8 December


	1st Australian Armoured Car Battery is issued Ford Light Cars and machine-guns and is retitled the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol.







	9 December


	Crews are trained in the operation of Lewis machine-guns.







	25 December


	Christmas Day is celebrated at Water Dump A (WDA) near Kharga.




















	1917


	







	January


	Numerous patrols into the Western Desert.







	11 May


	2nd Light Car Patrol arrives at WDA and relieves 1st Australian Light Car Patrol.







	15 May


	Lieutenant Cornwell is detached to Topographical Survey Section, Sinai, at Khan Yunus.







	18 May


	1st Australian Light Car Patrol entrains for Khan Yunus and taken under command of the Desert Column.







	25 May


	1st Australian Light Car Patrol is inspected by Lieutenant General Chauvel.







	26 May


	First patrols in Palestine.







	30 May


	1st Australian Light Car Patrol receives reinforcements (Troopers Gray, Riley, Christensen).







	6 June


	Attached to the Imperial Mounted Division.







	11 Jun


	Lieutenant Gibbs, 7th Light Horse, attached for duty.







	14 June


	While escorting the Divisional Commander, a patrol engages enemy aircraft with Lewis gun fire.







	4 September


	Drivers Harkin and Riley’s car attacked by a German aircraft.







	18 September


	Lieutenant Cornwell returns from detachment.







	10–11 December


	Exchange of vehicles for new equipment.




















	1918


	







	25 April


	1st Australian Light Car Patrol arrives at the Dead Sea and assists in the salvage of Turkish motor boats.







	June–August


	At the Dead Sea Post, the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol launches patrols on the Dead Sea using captured Turkish boats. Motor patrols also sent out from this post.







	2 September


	Capture of a German touring car retained for transport services.




















	1919


	







	2 January


	Sergeant Langley, DCM, dies of malaria.







	3 March


	Return of vehicles to the Stores Depot at Aleppo, Syria.







	5 March


	Members proceed by train to Egypt.







	13 March


	Captain Cornwell and remaining NCOs and men report to AIF Details Camp pending return to Australia.







	


	1st Australian Light Car Patrol is disbanded at Moascar.







	16 May


	Captain James and ten members of the 1st Australian Light Car Patrol embark on the HT Kaiser-i-Hind for return to Australia.








 


“THE MOTOR PATROL”


The History of the 1st Australian Armoured Car Section In Egypt, Sinai, Palestine, Syria and Asia Minor


By


Captain Ernest Homewood James, MVO MC & VD


1st Australian Armoured Car Section.


Engineer of Hawthorn, Vic; born Melbourne, 22nd November 1879; appointed a Lieutenant in the A.I.F. on 16/3/16; promoted Captain, 1/1/17; appointment terminated 29/10/20.


The text is presented here as originally written by Captain James with only minor editing for consistency and presentation. Place names are as written by Captain James.
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2.  Lieutenant Ernest Homewood James, 5th Australian Infantry Regiment, 1908 (Martin collection Martin 001).




INTRODUCTION


The Great War saw the introduction of many new things. Not the least of these was the petrol driven machine, which took a prominent part both as a vehicle and as a weapon.


The experience gained has led to a very complete study being made of the part that mechanisation is likely to take in future armed conflicts.


The late war saw gradual development from petrol driven carriers of troops and weapons and eventually the complete weapon–vehicle: the tank. The light motors used in the Palestine Campaign armed with Lewis and Vickers guns were the forerunners of the modern armoured cars.


The wide expanse of territory embraced by the Commonwealth, the sparse population and the difficulties of inter-communication all tend to enhance the value of mechanized engines of war in the land defence of Australia.


Our Army authorities have naturally fully recognised this and the initial steps in mechanisation have been taken.


The following brief history of the first Australian mechanized unit, which operated in the Great War, should prove of interest and will undoubtedly provide ample food for thought for those interested in the subject of mechanized engines of war.
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3.  Military Order 213 of 1916 granted authority to both raise and despatch the Armoured Car Section for overseas service. This document formally establishes the first armoured unit in the Australian Army (ATM.LCP.Doc.002).




THE FIRST AUSTRALIAN ARMOURED CAR SECTION


In August 1914 when the dogs of war were let loose a number of motoring enthusiasts met together in Melbourne to talk over a scheme for building Armoured Cars for use with the Allied Armies and to form a unit to volunteer for service abroad. Cold water was thrown on the scheme from almost every quarter, as there was practically no information available as to what the proper design for an armoured car should be; how the guns should be mounted; what the equipment should consist of, and what the personnel should be.


Still fools rush in where angels fear to tread and being enthusiasts they persisted. After many months of searching and enquiries from various quarters, enough information was available to enable designs to be got out. Then other obstacles cropped up. Armoured Cars were very expensive luxuries and required commodious high-powered chassis to carry them. Armour plating and other expensive equipment was required. Three powerful chassis were donated for the purpose of Mr John Young of Horsham, Mr P. Cornwell of Coburg and Mr Sol Green of Melbourne. Designs and specifications that were drawn up were approved and ultimately through the untiring efforts of Colonel Osborne, authority was given for the unit to be formed and got ready as soon as possible for service at the front, the Imperial Government having accepted the offer of the unit complete. The necessary personnel were soon enrolled as members of the 1st Australian Armoured Car Section and they began to get busy.


The use of the plant at the Vulcan Engineering Works, South Melbourne, was obtained and as quite a number of the section were skilled engineers they decided to make the necessary alterations to the chassis and build the armour and gun mountings themselves.


Several Melbourne firms also very kindly gave considerable assistance by supplying valuable equipment. Conspicuous amongst these donors were the Victoria Rolling Mills, Messrs J. A. Linacre, W. Trill and W. P. Thompson & Co.


It was found that many difficulties had to be overcome, the greatest of these being the obtaining of suitable bullet resisting plate for the protection of the inmates and the vulnerable part of the chassis. Ordinary steel plating of the required thickness would be far too heavy to be of any use at all. Many suggestions were made by individuals who were prepared to sell us all kinds of wonderful metal and processes for toughening and hardening ordinary steel plate. We insisted that there was only one test, as far as we were concerned and that was the service bullet. Many tests were made at the rifle ranges and all these bullet proof metals were found useless. We also discovered that although these merchants were positive of the qualities of the plating none of them had enough faith in it to stand behind while rifles were fired at it.


One inventor in particular was quite amusing. He had an alloy, which appeared to contain a large percentage of aluminium, and which he claimed was extremely light and quite bullet proof at point blank range. He even went to the trouble of making a special helmet with which he wished the authorities to supply the troops at the front. During our tests we got one of our marksmen to try a shot at this helmet at a range of a couple of hundred yards. The bullet drilled a neat hole through the front but knocked a piece out of the back several inches square. The inventor’s face was a picture when we gave him back his helmet. He apparently had no knowledge of the power of the modern 303 bullet.


Ultimately we got over our armour plate trouble as we discovered that there was a small supply in Melbourne of the special 3/32” steel plate imported from England some time previously for plating ammunition wagons. This plate is absolutely bullet proof at 500 yards and by doubling it, is proof at a much shorter range. We were fortunate in being able to purchase a supply of this and we used it in double thicknesses and in some places treble thicknesses on the vehicles. Louvers were fitted in front of the radiators. Colt Automatic guns were mounted in turrets (one on the top of each car). The turrets were revolving giving a complete arc of fire of 360 and a spare gun was carried inside each vehicle. On tests we found our cars were capable of a speed of between 50 and 60 miles per hour with their full load.


The crews went through intensive courses of machine-gun instruction and as the majority were very experienced motor car drivers, the personnel were in the ideal position of being able at a moment’s notice to take the place of any vacancy through casualty or otherwise. Towards the end of 1915 the authorities were satisfied that the unit was well enough advanced for embarkation although it was well into 1916 before they got away on the old Transport A 13, HMAT Katuna, en route for an unknown port.


The account of this boat’s peregrinations and how she took eight weeks from Melbourne to Suez sometimes drifting about in the Indian Ocean with engines broken down during the monsoons which were particularly severe, would fill a book; but ultimately men and cars were disembarked at Port Tewfik and sent by rail to join the Australian forces in Egypt.
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4.  The vehicles of the 1st Australian Armoured Car Section at Royal Park, Melbourne, in mid-1916. The armoured cars were the product of over two years’ work by Lieutenant James and his motoring enthusiasts (Harkin collection ATM.LCP.HH.001).
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5.  The crews of the 1st Australian Armoured Car Section parade in front of their vehicles at Royal Park, Melbourne (Harkin collection ATM.LCP.HH.002).


Motors and Motoring


Although no official statement has been made, it is known by those associated with military work that the Defence department has all the motor ambulances it requires.


Armored motorcars will be acceptable, because the value of these machines has been demonstrated more and more as the war progresses. In Gallipoli they have been used with marked success to destroy the enemy’s barbed wire entanglements. The writer has been told that the crew of an armored car runs little or no risk from rifle fire, because rifle and machine gun ammunition cannot penetrate the armor. Only big gun shells can damage them, and when they are driven up quickly they reach the enemy’s trenches before the artillery gets its range, and when close up they cannot be attacked by field guns or mortars without the risk of blowing up their own men. Two cars are being fitted up from local designs, and various metal workers in Melbourne are submitting sheets of steel which will be tested against rifle fire at different ranges. The builders of these Australian armored cars believe they will be able to turn out vehicles equal in efficiency to those made in England and France.


(The Leader, 7 August 1915, p. 22)
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6.  The Daimler-based armoured car the crew named ‘Gentle Annie’. The salient features are the bustle at the rear of the body and the gun shield instead of a turret (Young collection ATM LCP.IY.002).


Armoured Motor Cars.
Australian Officer’s Enterprise.
A Year of Quiet Preparation.
Sergeant Ivan Young’s Daimler Car.


After a year of battling against criticism of a new and strange enterprise, Lieutenant E. H. James has managed to have completed the first of two and probably three, armored motor cars, on which are to be mounted guns, for the Australian Expeditionary Forces.


It will be recalled in the communiqués from France, Flanders and even from Cape Helles that this class of car has at times played a large part in attacks and repulses of the enemy. At Cape Helles the cars, owing to the limited space, were not much used, but they fought their way to the very heart of the firing line along the Krithia road, and even to the Turkish trenches (then deserted), and grappling barb wire entanglements drew them back, and left a way clear for the infantry attacks.


The Australian armored car that has been completed is of different design from those motors at Cape Helles which were attached to the Royal Naval Air Service, and which were turret shaped armored bodies, mounted on Rolls-Royce chassis; it is different, too, from the French and Belgian of a similar type, which have little or no shield for the rapid firing gun.


An enthusiastic group of men, of whom Lieutenant James, besides being a practical engineer, was also an expert gun officer, commenced soon after the outbreak of the war to design armored cars and having obtained the sanction of the Minister of Defence during the early part of last year, commenced to collect the materials necessary for their construction.


Two power cars, each of 60 horsepower, were donated; one, a Daimler by Sergeant Ivan Young, (son of Mr. and Mrs John Young of “Yelholm”, Nhill), and the other a Mercedes chassis, by Mr. P. Cornwell. Both of these men are expert mechanics, and will form part of the crew of the cars.


One of the greatest initial difficulties was the procuring of the required quantity of steel. It had to be light for the purpose, and yet with great resistance to be valuable. After travelling the Commonwealth sufficient was obtained (some of it still bears the German stamp), and by doubling and trebling the thickness of the vulnerable parts the proper protection was gained. Lieutenant James describes this steel as being as hard as diamonds. To cut it blunts all the tools, and special means have had to be adopted to cut it. Once this was obtained (and it was the work of months) it took little time to place it in the hands of a competent builder, who worked on the designs drawn up by Lieutenant James.


As the work proceeded various difficulties had to be overcome and modifications made to the original plans, but the result was Tuesday the nearly completed armored car, nick named by its crew, Gentle Annie. She weighs a ton and a half. Now the Daimler car (Sergeant Ivan Young’s) has been the first completed, and a formidable looking object it is too, with its glistening and unpolished edges of steel plating and its strong bolts. Every vital part of the engines is protected by one, two, or three layers of grey steel plating.


At first thought to armor a car seems a simple object, but it had to be remembered that the whole of the car, not only the driver and engines has to be enclosed in an impregnable case of steel. There is just room for the driver to sit on the petrol tank, with a few inches between the crown of his head and the top of the armored top. Just behind him will stand the gun crew with the gun specially mounted behind a shield on the roof. The gun swings freely. It takes very little time to dismount the gun altogether, and then the crew can disappear below into the steel case, and the driver puts (if the car be too hotly attacked) as much space as he can between his deadly offensive weapon and the enemy. Any part of the engine can be reached from the interior of the car, radiators, crankshafts and gearbox. In a few days the car will be available for its trials.


The Mercedes, a German car, is called by its crew “Silent Sue”, probably for the very reason that the powerful engine makes a throbbing like that of an aeroplane. Now that the first car has been completed (and many alterations had to be made as first one design and then another for certain sections were found wanting and altered), it will be very few weeks before the second car is completed.


Lieutenant James has insisted that every member of the crew belonging to each car and gun will be able to carry out each other’s work. Every man will therefore be a mechanic and a gunner as well. Extra guns as well as spare wheels will be carried. It is probable that a third car will be constructed. The cost of construction is being borne by the donators of the cars and the designer, and will amount to several thousand pounds. The weight of the armor and the gun will be about one ton.


(Nhill Free Press, 11 February 1916, p. 3)


Armored Motor Car.
Australia’s First Product.
A Grim-Looking Machine.
Goes Forward Firing.
A Satisfactory Trial.


Bearing down at over 30 miles an hour, an amored motor, with projecting weapon and just the top edge of a khaki cap showing above the rim of the gun shield. Looks a fearsome object. Watched steadily going forward, with the same gun spitting and barking fiercely, a faint smoke issuing from the muzzle, while the engine races, suggests a landscape swept bare of any enemy.


On the Port Melbourne rifle range on Friday, about noon, the trial was held of the first of such cars built in Melbourne, to the design of Lieutenant E. H. James.


The design of the car has already been described in the columns of “The Age”, when it was shown that this was one of two powerful motor cars that had been donated, to be transformed into a bullet-proof turret on wheels, with a capacity of being hurled into action at the rate of 60 miles an hour. Space did not permit yesterday of the speed capacity of the machine being tried.


It was more with an idea of testing the working of the gun mounted on the top of the steel encasement that the little corps of mechanics and expert machine gunners that Lieutenant E. H. James has gathered round him scrambled inside their steel shell, and set off down to the rifle range, with a few belts of ammunition. Except, as has been stated, for the occasional glimpse of a head and shoulder of a soldier, this greenish-grey car, shaped like an old fashioned Cobb and Co. coach, with the stubborn-looking gun behind the protecting shield, no one was visible as guiding the movements of the car. But when it stopped there emerged from behind the steel door that swung back the crew, who had been crouched inside. Had they been going through a zone of shrapnel established by the enemy they would have been unscathed.


Sand, mounds and gutters formed no obstacles to the powerful motor, and once on the range a target was soon registered. Port Melbourne butts have seen many matches and tests, but none more interesting than the men behind the gun on the top of the turret of this armored motor sending round after round on to the target. It was in fact, considering that the machine gunners had never fired the gun before under such conditions, extremely creditable that they soon got on to the target, 600 yards away. A strong six point wind considerably influenced the flight of the bullets, but once picked up the gunners could make sure of their targets every time.


The test of firing as the motor was driven forward was more difficult, especially as the range is not exactly like the roads where the cars may be expected to be driven into fiction. Swinging round from various angles, the gunner picked up their target, und showed the mobility of the gun. In a few seconds it could have been dismantled and stored safely inside the shield, and the driver, crowding on all power, might have escaped from any enemy which threatened to destroy the unit.


For the most part, the armored motor may be regarded as a means of scouting and obtaining information. The gun mounted on it is a defensive weapon, as are the guns in an armored train rather than a means of commencing offensive tactics against the foe. For, with the terrible accuracy of artillery fire and the curtain of shellfire that is dropped before an advancing army, even with the high speed that such cars often obtain it would be a miracle if they escaped un-hit, though they might not be altogether put out of action.


In fact, looking at the car, there are no vulnerable points exposed, as far as one can see, and all that is required for success is nerve. One does not for a moment doubt that the men who are to form the little corps for the first armored cars to leave Australia will show their mettle as their engineer comrades in the trenches and in the air have proved themselves. But whatever work the men who guide these grim machines are to be engaged on, if perseverance, ingeniousness and courage can bring them through, they possess it. All that remains to be done is for each gun’s crew to become thoroughly conversant with the work before it. They must be scouts, mechanics and gunners at the same time.


No doubt the designer will find many points to improve after his first trial, small but rather telling factors for complete and smooth working.


(The Age, 28 February 1916)


[image: image]


7.  Armoured motorcar machine-gun and crew (Young Collection ATM. LCP.IY.003).


Armored Motor Car Machine Gun and Crew


Monday’s Melbourne Herald contained two pictures of an armored motor machine gun, in which district residents have a special interest. The armored motor machine gun was constructed by the members of the crew, at their own expense, and is the first of these vehicles to be built for the Australian Armored Motor Machine Gun Corps, which is in course of formation. The main portion of the expense was borne by Sergeant Ivan Young, of the Australian Imperial Forces, who comes from Nhill, and is the son of Mr. John Young, J.P. He also gave the chassis, while Mr. H.W. Beckett, of the Vulcan Engineering works, South Melbourne, gave the free time of his plant, tools and shop. The plans and designs were drawn by Lieut. E. H. James, A.E., who supervised the work and organised the unit. The car, which is built of special bulletproof steel, is valued at about £1000. It is 60 h.p. and is capable of doing 60 miles an hour with a full load. Other cars are to be constructed, and another chassis has been given by Lieut. P. Cornwell, of the Engineers. Colonel Harley Tarrant, V.D., and Major W. H. Osborne, V.D., of the Motor Transport Board, gave valuable assistance in connection with the construction of the car. Behind the gun are Sergeant J. Langley; in front: Lieut. E. H. James, Sergeant Ivan Young (Nhill), Lieut P. Cornwell, Mr. H. W. Beckett, Sergeant Creek Horsham.


(The Horsham Times, 3 March 1916, p. 1)
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8.  The Mercedes-based armoured car and crew at Victoria Barracks in May 1916. Left to right: Lieutenant Percy Cornwell, Lance Corporal Walter Thompson, Driver Robert McGibbon, unknown, and Corporal Leslie Millar (AWM DAOD2305).
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9.  The presentation of the 1st Armoured Car Section to the Minister for Defence, Senator G.F. Pearce, at Victoria Barracks, Melbourne, in May 1916 was attended by several dignitaries and a crowd of well-wishers. The two armoured cars were hand-built and each was unique. One of the more obvious differences was in the weapon mounting: the Mercedes ‘Silent Sue’ to the left of frame had a completely enclosed turret with sloped sides reminiscent of the British Army’s Rolls Royce armoured cars of the period. The Daimler ‘Gentle Anne’ on the right had a gun shield with side wings but no protection at the rear (AWM DAOD2303).


Two Armored Motor Cars
Presented to the Minister.


At the Victoria Barracks last week Senator G. F. Pearce, Minister for Defence, was presented with two armored motorcars carrying machineguns.


Lieutenants E. H. James and P. Cornwell, of the Armored Car Section of the Australian Imperial Force, gave a 60 h.p. Mercedes car, and Sergeant J. Young a 40 h.p. Daimler car fully armored and equipped for service abroad.


The crews for these cars have been selected, and the men are all in camp. They all assisted in the construction of the cars either in work or money.


Senator Pearce, in acknowledging the gifts, said that the manufacture of these cars showed that Australia had moved another step forward in the ability to equip her own armies. He heartily thanked the donors. Most of the work had been done at the Vulcan Engineering Works.


There was also on view a motorcycle with sidecar to carry a machine gun.
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